IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 21-0455

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

JEFFREY S. BITTNER, trustee of the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust and
Individually,
Defendant-Appellee

Appeal from the Iowa District Court in and for Scott County
The Honorable Tom Reidel Case No. CVCV300445

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT-DEFENDANT JEFF BITTNER

Jeffrey S. Bittner AT0000931
201 West 2nd Street Suite 1000
Davenport, Iowa 52801
Tel. 563-579-7071
Fax 563-328-3352
E-mail jbittner@jbittnerlaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT JEFFREY S. BITTNER

PROOF OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. **Whether the District Court correctly determined that the decedent’s IRA beneficiary designation clearly and unambiguously designates the decedent’s spouse as 100% owner of his IRA.**
 - *Burlington Indus. Inc. v. Dayco Corp.* , 849 F.2d 1418, 1421–22 (Fed. Cir. 1988).
 - *Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc. v. United States*, 940 F.3d 1362, 1370 (Fed. Cir. 2019).
 - *Colwell v. MCNA Ins. Co.* Case No. 20-0545 Decided June 11, 2021 (Iowa 2021) at p. 7.
 - *Estate of Pearson v. Interstate Power*, 700 N.W. 2d 333, 343 (Iowa 2005).

- *EEOC v. Gilbarco, Inc.*, 615 F.2d 985, 999 & n.23 (4th Cir. 1980).
- *Harvey Construction Co. v. Parmele*, 113 N.W. 2d 760, 765 (Iowa 1962).
- *Iowa Fuel & Minerals v. Bd. of Regents*, 471 NW 2d 859, 863 (Iowa 1991).
- *Karczewski v. DCH Mission Valley LLC*, 862 F.3d 1006, 1017 (9th Cir. 2017).
- *Kerndt v. Rolling Hills Nat. Bank*, 558 N.W. 2d 410, 416 (Iowa 1997).
- *Low v. Young, Mullarky & Long*, 158 Iowa 15, 138 N.W. 828, 829 (Iowa 1912).
- *Med. Coll. of Wis. Affiliated Hosps., Inc. v. United States*, 854 F.3d 930, 933 (7th Cir. 2017).
- *Mopper v. Circle Key Life Ins. Co.*, 172 N.W.2d 118, 126 (Iowa 1969).
- *Small v. Ogden*, 259 Iowa 1126, 1131, 147 N.W.2d 18, 21 (Iowa 1966).
- *Smith Barney, Inc. v. Keeney*, 570 N.W.2d 75, 78 (Iowa 1997).
- *Sosa v. Alvarez-Machain*, 542 U.S. 692, 711 n.9, 124 S.Ct. 2739, 159 L.Ed.2d 718 (2004).
- *Stream v. Grow*, No. 0-094/09-1011 (Iowa App. 4/21/2010) (Iowa App. 2010), 2010 Iowa App. LEXIX 310 *15.
- 17A C.J.S. Contracts § 325.
- 26 CFR 1.409(a)(9)-4 Q & A-5.

2. Whether the District Court correctly determined that decedent's handcrafted addendum to his IRA beneficiary designation was surplusage.

- Issues 1 and 2 are interrelated. The authority supporting Issue 2 is the same authority which supports Issue 1.

3. Whether the District Court correctly excluded the decedent's two previous IRA beneficiary designations and six previous wills as irrelevant to his intent.

- *Anderson v. Aspelmeier, Fish, Power, Warner & Engberg*, 461 N.W.2d 598, 600 (Iowa 1990).
- *C-Thru Container v. Midland Mfg.* 533 N.W.2d 542, 544 (Iowa 1995).
- *Elkader Prod. Credit Ass'n v. Eulberg*, 251 N.W. 2d 234, 237 (Iowa 1977).
- *Elliott v. Hiddleson*, 303 N.W. 2d 140, 142 (Iowa 1981).
- *Estate of Anderson (Matter of)*, 359 N.W.2d 479, 480 (Iowa 1984).
- *Estate of Larsen (In re)*, 256 Iowa 1392, 1395, 131 N.W.2d 503,504-05 (1964).
- *Estate of Pearson v. Interstate Power*, 700 N.W.2d 333, 343 (Iowa 2005).
- *Estate of Rogers (Matter of)*, 473 NW 2d 36, 39 (Iowa 1991).
- *Hartig Drug Co. v. Hartig*, 602 N.W.2d 794, 796 (Iowa 1999).
- *Iowa Fuel & Minerals v. Bd. of Regents*, 471 N.W. 2d 859, 863 (Iowa 1991).

- *Kerndt v. Rolling Hills Nat. Bank*, 558 N.W. 2d 410, 416 (Iowa 1997).
 - *Montgomery Properties v. Economy Forms*, 305 N.W.2d 470, 475-76 (Iowa 1981).
 - *Whalen v. Connelly*, 545 N.W.2d 284, 291 (Iowa 1996).
- 4. Whether the District Court correctly excluded the testimony of decedent's 40 year law partner; 30 year administrative assistant and 35 year law partner and son regarding the decedent's habits and intent.**
- Issues 3 and 4 are interrelated. The authority supporting Issue 3 is the same authority which supports Issue 4.
- 5. Whether U.S. Bank had unclean hands as a consequence of its favoring one set of fiduciary duties to the detriment of conflicting fiduciary duties.**
- *Ellwood v. Mid States Commodities, Inc.* 404 N.W.2d 174, 184 (Iowa 1987).
 - *Estate of Wiese's (Matter of)*, 257 N.W.2d 1,4 (Iowa 1977).
 - *Iowa Health System v. Trinity Health Corp.* 177 F. Supp. 2d 897, 924 (N.D. Iowa 2001).
 - *McBurney v. Carson*, 99 US 567, 572, 25 L. Ed. 378 (1879).
 - *Marriage of Phillips (In re)*, 493 N.W.2d 872, 878 (Iowa App. 1992).
 - *Wilson v. Snow*, 228 U.S. 217; 33 S. Ct. 487, 57 L. Ed. 807 (1913).
 - Iowa Code §633.160.
 - Iowa Code §633A.4202.

- 90 C.J.S. Trusts §242, 247(b), 263, 270.
 - 27 Am Jur 2d *Equity* § 136 p. 667
 - 31 Am Jur. 2d Executors and Administrators §414 -416.
 - 76 Am Jur 2d Trusts §440.
- 6. Whether U.S. Bank had standing to serve as Joan Bittner’s advocate in the declaratory judgment action.**
- *City of Humboldt v. Knight*, 255 Iowa 22, 120 N.W.2d 457, 458 (Iowa 1963).
 - *Dickson v. Hubbell Realty Co.*, 567 N.W.2d 427, 430 (Iowa 1997).
 - *Green v. City of Mt. Pleasant*, 256 Iowa 1184, 1206 131 N.W.2d 5, 19 (Iowa 1964).
 - *Kerndt v. Rolling Hills Nat. Bank*, 558 N.W.2d 410, 416 (Iowa 1997).
 - *Outing v. Plum*, 212 Iowa 1169, 235 N.W. 559 (Iowa 1931).
 - *Rodman v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 208 N.W.2d 903, 905-06 (Iowa 1973).
 - *Rowen v. Le Mars Mut. Ins. Co. of Iowa*, 282 N.W.2d 639, 645 (Iowa 1979).
 - Black’s Law Dictionary (Sixth Edition).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case involves interpretation of an IRA beneficiary designation, an area of the law where legal precedent in Iowa is sparse, if not non-

existent. In addition, the Court's decision may establish important precedent on fiduciary conflict of interest. In this case the same fiduciary simultaneously served as Richard Bittner IRA Trustee on the one hand and a conflicted co-executor and co-trustee of Mr. Bittner's testamentary trusts on the other. Decedent's Will directed the IRA to be placed in trust for the benefit of the surviving spouse with the remainder passing to his children. In filing its petition for declaratory judgment, U.S. Bank, the conflicted fiduciary, chose to serve as advocate for the surviving spouse's outright ownership of the IRA contrary to the directions Richard left in his Will. Accordingly, this case would appear governed by Iowa R. App. Proc. 6.1101(2)(c). Retention by the Supreme Court is appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

U.S. Bank commenced this action with conflicting fiduciary roles. In one role U.S. Bank served as co-executor of the estate of Richard Bittner and co-trustee of his testamentary trusts (Petition para. 1, 38; App. 9, 16-17). Richard's Last Will and Testament directs his IRA to be held in trust for decedent's wife, Joan, for her life. The Will directs the remainder interest in the IRA to pass to decedent's children following Joan's death. (Exhibit 1 p. 9, 14-15 of 24; App. 111, 116-117).

In its conflicted role, U.S. Bank served as Trustee for Richard's IRA Trust. U.S. Bank's Trust Agreement (Ex. USB-2; App. 93-102) deliberately limits its powers as IRA Trustee. (Ex. USB-2 para. 14; App. 100). The Trust Agreement does not confer any power on U.S. Bank to advocate for any claimed beneficiary's ownership. U.S. Bank commenced this action advocating for Joan's outright ownership of the IRA. (Petition, July 29, 2020 para. 37; App. 16). U.S. Bank was invited to re-cast its Petition as an interpleader action. (Ex. JB-26 p. 2 para. 1,3,4; App. 161). U.S. Bank rejected this invitation. It elected to prefer one of its conflicted roles over the other.

Upon U.S. Bank's urging, the District Court concluded that Richard's IRA designation of January 11, 2010 (Ex. JB-2/USB-1; App. 89-92) was the single instrument which deviated from Richard Bittner's 19 year dispositive plan for his IRA established in:

- 2 previous IRA beneficiary designations;
- 3 previous Wills;
- 1 contemporaneous Will, and;
- 2 subsequent Wills.

This appeal challenges the District Court ruling which concluded that

Joan is the 100% owner of the decedent's IRA.

At the center of this appeal is the last paragraph of the decedent's IRA beneficiary designation which reads as follows:

Upon the death of my wife, my children, Kimberly Montgomery, Jeffrey S. Bittner, Todd R. Bittner and Lynn Von Schneidau, shall become primary beneficiaries and have an equal share...
(Ex. USB-1/JB-2 p. 4; App. 92).

In order to reach its conclusion that Joan was the 100% owner, the District Court was required to ignore this language as well as the other language in Richard's handcrafted addendum to his IRA beneficiary designation. The District Court's interpretation denies effect to this Court's time-honored rule that no language in a written instrument shall be deemed superfluous unless no other construction is reasonable. The District Court's interpretation denies effect to this Court's rule of law that when handwritten clauses are added to form agreements, the handwritten clauses prevail.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Richard's handcrafted addendum to his IRA beneficiary designation begins with the following paragraph:

My wife, Joan Y. Bittner, is and shall be the primary beneficiary under my IRA Account No. xxxxxxxx6300 which is currently administered by U.S. Bank, N.A. Joan Y. Bittner is

the primary beneficiary under the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust under my Last Will & Testament dated January 11, 2010 and she shall be entitled to all annual distributions from my IRA based upon her life expectancy under the then applicable federal income tax rules and regulations. (Exhibit JB-2 p. 3; App. 91).

As noted above, Richard's addendum concludes with the following paragraph:

Upon the death of my wife, my children, Kimberly Montgomery, Jeffrey S. Bittner, Todd R. Bittner and Lynn Von Schneidau, shall become primary beneficiaries and have an equal share... (Exhibit JB-2 p. 4; App. 92).

Richard's Final Will contains similar language:

If and in the event there is no federal estate tax in force at the date of my death and in the event JOAN Y. BITTNER survives me, she shall be entitled to all of the required distributions from such IRA during her lifetime and upon her death... then the balance of my IRA shall pass to and be distributed as set forth in the beneficiary designation on file with U.S. Bank....

(Exhibit JB-1 p. 9 of 24; App. 111)¹.

Other wills and IRA beneficiary designations executed by Richard Bittner over the last 19 years of his life demonstrate an unbroken dispositive pattern for his IRA: Joan would receive the required annual IRA distributions during her life. Upon Joan's death, the remainder was to pass

¹ There was no federal estate tax due at the death of decedent.

to their children in equal shares. (Ex. JB 59- R. Bittner Will February 6, 1995 pp. 3-4 of 26, App. 238-39; Exhibit JB 56 p. 3, App. 233, R. Bittner IRA Ben. Design. February 8, 1998; Exhibit JB-60 p. 6 of 21, App. 267; October 26, 1999 R. Bittner Will; Exhibit JB-57 p. 1, App. 234; October 26, 1999 R. Bittner IRA Ben. Desig.; Exhibit JB-61 p. 11 of 20, App. 293; September 29, 2006 R. Bittner Will; Exhibit JB-62 p. 12 of 21, App. 314; October 18, 2008 Will; Exhibit JB-25 pp. 6-7 of 20, App. 145-46; January 11, 2010 Will; Exhibit JB-2 January 11, 2010 IRA ben. design. pp. 2-4, App. 90-92; Exhibit JB 63 p. 8 of 23, January 2010 (draft) R. Bittner Will; Exhibit 1- p. 9 of 24, App. 332-22; Exhibit JB-1 January 7, 2014 R. Bittner Final Will, App. 111).

Initially, Sarah Maiers, the U.S. Bank trust officer assigned to Richard Bittner's estate agreed that it was Richard's intent to place his IRA in trust. In an April 25, 2019 memo to file, Ms. Maiers wrote:

After speaking to Wendy Kelly, she stated the preferred method would be to re-register the asset in Joan's [Mrs. Bittner's] IRA and move it to her IRA and then sell it.

BUT, that is not what the beneficiary designation says-Joan, as an individual is not the beneficiary-the marital trust is the beneficiary.
(Exhibit JB-32; App. 200-201).

Ms. Maiers was also the lead person for U.S. Bank on the IRA issue. (Tr. 56:16-57:11).

Two weeks after the Richard Bittner's estate was opened, estate attorney Curt Oppel wrote Ms. Maiers asking, "Do we know who the beneficiaries are of Dick's IRA?" Ms. Maiers responded, "Yes. Joan is the primary beneficiary under the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust under the Last Will and Testament dated January 11, 2010 and she shall be entitled to all annual distributions from the IRA based upon her life expectancy..." (Exhibit JB-33; App. 202). On May 6, 2019, Ms. Maiers repeated this same position in a memo to Mr. Oppel, "...I believe...the [IRA] beneficiary is the marital trust." (Exhibit JB-34; App. 205).

Then, on May 30, 2019, six employees of U.S. Bank convened a conference call. Included in the meeting was Sarah Maiers who had on three prior occasions stated that the Joan Bittner Marital Trust was the IRA beneficiary. (Exhibits JB 32-34; App. 199-206).

The group came up with three reasons that the (Joan Y. Bittner) Marital Trust would not be the beneficiary. (Exhibit JB-91; App. 365). None of the proffered reasons matched the District Court's conclusion: that the IRA beneficiary designation clearly and unequivocally designates Joan

Bittner, individually, as the sole 100% owner. *Id.*

In forming its opinion on ownership of the IRA, U.S. Bank did not ask to review Richard's prior wills (Tr. 242:19-22). U.S. Bank cannot recall if it asked to review Richard's prior IRA beneficiary designations (Tr. 242:23-243:3). U.S. Bank produced no evidence establishing any effort on its part to contact any person who personally knew Richard about his habits, custom and intent.

In the memo summarizing the May 30, 2019 U.S. Bank conference call, there is no mention of the late Mr. Bittner's intent. (Exhibit JB-91; App. 365). U.S. Bank Trust Officer Phil Hershner conceded that no one at U.S. Bank ever asked a question about Richard Bittner's intent. (Tr. 182:21-183:1).

Jeff Bittner practiced law with his father since 1984. (Tr. 332:20-333:10). Jeff was appointed co-executor along with U.S. Bank. Jeff had a different interpretation of Richard's IRA beneficiary designation. Jeff believed that Richard intended to leave the IRA in trust for the benefit of Joan, Richard's spouse and Jeff's mother, to support her during her lifetime. Upon Joan's death, the remainder would be divided equally among their children. (Tr. 364:6-17; 365:4-367:5).

This difference of opinion began a chain of events that ultimately led to irreconcilable differences between the two co-executors.

U.S. Bank did not discuss the reasons for its conclusions or share any of its communications on this issue with Jeff, (an Iowa attorney with 35 years experience) or with estate attorney, Curt Oppel, (an Iowa attorney with 25 years experience). In a memo sent to nine other U.S. Bank employees, Sarah Maiers wrote:

I have already told [co-executor] Jeff [Bittner] (who is a trial attorney) that it is IRA (IRS) laws but he doesn't want to accept that. He really wants to talk to someone like Wendy and Barbara since he thinks he can talk them into thinking his way.² I have already told him NO and US Bank will be doing the right thing and this really has NOTHING to do with the estate- it is IRA law. I told him there is no way we will budge on this but he wants to 'go over my head', so I need you all to back me up. (Capitalization original).

(Exhibit JB-112; App. 393).

When asked, Wendy Kelly, U.S. Bank's internal IRA expert, refused to communicate with Jeff about the IRA issue. (Exhibit JB-104; App. 386).

Richard Bittner Estate attorney Curt Oppel testified, "...(W)e never really did get a response on our request to talk to somebody or to get written

² Jeff Bittner's way of thinking was also the memo's author's (Sarah Maiers') original way of thinking (Exhibits JB 32-34; App. 199-206).

information from U.S. Bank on how they came to their conclusion regarding the [IRA] designated beneficiary form.” (Tr. 298:15-18).

Instead, U.S. Bank hired outside counsel tasked with the mission of convincing Jeff that his interpretation of his late father’s intentions was mistaken. (Ex.’s JB-36, App. 208-14; JB-94, App. 369-76; JB-105, App. 387-88; Tr. 179:18-23, 188:17-20). This was done without Jeff’s knowledge or consent. (Tr. 353:4-10).

In a meeting held on December 17, 2019, U.S. Bank acknowledged for the the second time³, that it had a conflict of interest between its roles as IRA trustee and co-executor of Richard Bittner’s estate, (Exhibit JB-89 p. 2

³ “After much deliberation and thought, we feel it best if U.S Bank resigns as co-trustee of the R. Bittner Estate. First and foremost, as you know, we have a conflict of interest as far as Mr. Bittner’s IRA beneficiary designation is concerned because we are at odds with our co-executor”. (Exhibit JB-39).

“Further, that if Jeff pursues his claim that his father intended for the IRA to be controlled via a QTIP election...the bank would be forced to resign. This was due to a conflict where the bank as trustee of the IRA would be in a position of defending the clear language of the IRA Beneficiary Designation and on the other hand pursuing a position contrary to that as Co-Executor of the estate. (Exhibit JB-89 p. 2 under caption “Meeting Summary”).

On June 18, 2020 U.S. Bank also acknowledged its conflict on the day Jeff received the legal opinion it had sought without its co-executor’s knowledge or consent. “It seems the only way forward with regard to the IRA is to go to court for an opinion. That would bring up the conflict we have being both Co-Executor and Trustee of the IRA.” (Exhibit JB-110).

para. 1., App. 359; Tr. 354:3-20). Jeff observed that given U.S. Bank's conflict, it was required to maintain a position of neutrality (Tr. 353:3-353:22). Jeff proposed that he would file a declaratory judgment petition advocating for the trusts created under his father's Will. *Id.* He would name MidWestOne Bank, his mother's conservator, as opposing party. *Id.* In this manner, U.S. Bank would be allowed to maintain a position of neutrality due to its conflicting roles. *Id.* No one from U.S. Bank objected to this proposal. (Tr. 354:23-354:2). Jeff was confident that the conflict between the co-executors was, thus, resolved. (Tr. 354:6-10).

On June 18, 2020, estate attorney Curt Oppel and Jeff were surprised when they received a legal opinion regarding the IRA beneficiary designation solicited by U.S. Bank from the Simmons' law firm.⁴ (Tr. 312:19-313:2; 355:11-357:14).

In response, Jeff requested U.S. Bank produce all e-mails and other communications related to the IRA issue. (Exhibit JB-5 para. 2, App. 129; Tr. 357:2-20). U.S. Bank refused to share the requested information with its co-executor. (Exhibit JB-17 p. 1 para. 5; App. 136).

⁴ Neither Curt Oppel nor Jeff were surprised that the legal opinion supported the interpretation urged by U.S. Bank, the party which paid for that opinion.

Jeff gave U.S. Bank the option of resigning as co-executor or being removed under Article XVI of the Will. (Exhibit JB-1 p. 21 of 24; App. 123; JB-18, App. 138; 358:9-14). On July 9, 2020, U.S. Bank promised to resign. (Exhibit JB-19; App. 139).

On July 27, 2020, U.S. Bank reversed course refusing to resign as co-executor. (Answer Case No. ESPR 078709; App. 59). Two days later, on July 29, 2020, while still co-executor of the Estate of Richard Bittner and nominated co-trustee of Mr. Bittner's testamentary trusts, U.S. Bank, filed the declaratory judgment petition in this suit advocating for Joan Bittner's 100% ownership of the IRA. (Petition July 29, 2021 para. 37; App. 58).

On August 19, 2020, Jeff, through counsel, asked U.S. Bank to maintain a neutral position by re-casting its Petition as an interpleader. (Ex. JB-26 p. 2 para. 4; App. 161). U.S. Bank refused and proceeded to prosecute the declaratory judgment action advocating for Joan's sole ownership of the IRA.

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