IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 21-0455

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION *Plaintiff-Appellee*,

VS.

JEFFREY S. BITTNER, as trustee of the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust and Individually,

Defendant-Appellant

and

JOAN Y. BITTNER; MIDWESTONE BANK, as Conservator of the JOAN Y. BITTNER CONSERVATORSHIP; KIMBERLY MONTGOMERY; TODD RICHARD BITTNER; LYNN VO SCHNEIDAU,

Defendants-Appellees.

Appeal from the Iowa District Court in and for Scott County The Honorable Tom Reidel, Case No. CVCV300445

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE MIDWESTONE'S PROOF BRIEF

Timothy J. Krumm, AT0012011
Danica L. Bird, AT0014223
Meardon, Sueppel & Downer P.L.C.
122 South Linn Street
Iowa City, IA 52240

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

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Properly Determined that the IRA Beneficiary Designation Unambiguously Designates Joan Bittner as the Sole Primary Beneficiary

A. Preservation of Error and Standard of Review

Appellee MidWestOne agrees with Jeff's statement of preservation of errors. This is an appeal of a declaratory judgment action involving contract interpretation tried at law; the standard of review is for errors at law. *Colwell v. MCNA Insurance Company*, 960 N.W.2d 675, 676–677 (Iowa 2021).

B. Argument

Under the Iowa Probate Code, "assets of a custodial independent retirement account shall pass on or after the death of the designator of the . . . account account to the beneficiary or beneficiaries specified in the . . . account agreement . . . pursuant to the . . . account agreement." IOWA CODE § 633.357(2). The General Assembly's explanation of its enactment of Section 633.357 stated:

[T]he beneficiary designation by the owner of a custodial independent retirement account controls the distribution of the benefits and the account is not a part of the testamentary disposition of a deceased owner subject to the terms of the will of the owner unless the designated beneficiary of the account is the estate of the owner.

H.F. 662, 78th G.A., 1st Sess., explanation (Iowa 1999). *See also In re Estate of Gantner*, 893 N.W.2d 896, 903–04 (Iowa 2017) (citing Section 633.357 and H.F. 662, 78th G.A., 1st Sess., explanation (Iowa 1999) to reject a contention that a deceased spouse's IRA should be included in the decedent's estate for spousal allowance purposes). Additionally, the IRA Beneficiary Designation provides, in part, that "[a]ny controversy over who is entitled to the IRA Trust assets at [Richard's] death shall be controlled by federal law, if applicable, and otherwise by the law of the state of [Richard's] domicile . . ." Exhibit USB-1 at 1. (App. p. 89).

Jeff urges that the District Court's interpretation of the IRA Beneficiary Designation renders Richard's addendum superfluous. Brief of Appellant at 26. In so arguing, Jeff attempts to read between the lines and create ambiguity in what is otherwise Richard's clear intent. Richard's addendum is entirely consistent with what was already contemplated in U.S. Bank's standard IRA Beneficiary Designation form and IRA; namely, that Joan should benefit for life from the IRA as the primary beneficiary, with only the *possibility* of the

remainder passing to Richard's designated successors. As the IRA Beneficiary Designation, IRA, and federal law all demonstrate, the sole spousal beneficiary of Richard's IRA, Joan, reserves the right to override Richard's successor beneficiary designations. Moreover, the final paragraph of Richard's addendum is not superfluous, as Jeff argues, but serves to clarify that Richard's children are contingent beneficiaries, *per stirpes*.

1. Richard designated Joan as a primary beneficiary of the IRA, subject to the possibility that the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust would also become a primary beneficiary

To support his contention that Joan was not the sole primary beneficiary under the Beneficiary Designation, Jeff emphasizes that "Richard stated, "...Joan Y. Bittner is...<u>a</u> primary beneficiary *under my IRA*...' In the second sentence, Richard stated that Joan is <u>the</u> primary beneficiary *under the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust*." Brief of Appellant, at 29 (emphasis in original). Jeff believes these different determiners indicate Richard's intent to treat his children as additional primary beneficiaries, rather than designating Joan as the "sole owner." *Id.* at 30.

No matter the interpretation of this provision of Richard's addendum, it is clear that, at all times, Richard intended Joan to be a primary beneficiary of the IRA. The subsequent paragraphs under Section (A) of the addendum identify the only other potential primary beneficiary - the Joan Y. Bittner

Marital Trust. *See* Exhibit USB-1 at 3. (App. p. 91). Richard contemplated and planned for favorable tax treatment upon his death. *Id.* (App. p. 91). This is evidenced by Richard providing: "[t]hat part of my IRA which is necessary to achieve the minimum marital deduction which will result in no federal income tax is devised to the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust with respect to which Joan Y. Bittner is the beneficiary." *Id.* (App. p. 91).

The most natural reading of the foregoing is that the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust was in fact a beneficiary of the IRA, *contingent* upon it being "necessary to achieve the minimum marital deduction." Richard could not have identified the Trust as a section (B) contingent beneficiary however, because section (B) would take force "only if none of the Primary Beneficiaries are living at the date of [his] death." Exhibit USB-1 at 1 (emphasis in original). (App. p. 89). Of course, naming the Trust as a beneficiary was not contingent upon Joan's death, but future federal tax considerations. For this reason, it is entirely logical that Richard would chose to refer to his spouse as *a* primary beneficiary, and not as *the* primary beneficiary of his IRA.

Consequently, if a portion of the IRA required being transferred to the Trust for tax purposes, Joan would have been *a* beneficiary, concurrently with the Trust. Since no part of the IRA needed to be included in the Trust, Joan

therefore became *the* sole beneficiary, with a 100 percent share. This is significant, given the surviving spouse, as sole designated beneficiary of an IRA, is the only beneficiary who may elect to treat herself as the owner of the IRA, rather than only as the beneficiary. I.R.S. PUB 590-B, at 7 (2019). *See also In re Estate of Gantner*, 893 N.W.2d, at 903 (recognizing that the ownership of "an IRA does not and cannot literally 'transfer on death' to anyone other than a spouse.").

2. Richard Bittner's children were contingent *and* successor beneficiaries according to the IRA Beneficiary Designation and IRA Trust Agreement

According to the IRA Beneficiary Designation, Richard named his four children as equal contingent beneficiaries. Exhibit USB-1, at 3–4. (App. p. 91–92). Section (B) of U.S. Bank's standard Beneficiary Designation form only provided for three contingent beneficiaries, which necessitated Richard's use of the addendum. *See id.* at 1. (App. p. 89). Of course, contingent beneficiaries are the designees who shall receive the IRA, "only if none of the Primary Beneficiaries are living" at the time of the designator's death. *Id.* (emphasis in original). (App. p. 89). Because Joan was living at the time of Richard's death, this contingency never occurred, and the children's interest never vested.

Immediately after the contingent beneficiary designations is the final paragraph, that states:

Upon the death of my wife, my children . . . shall become the primary beneficiaries and each shall have an equal share. In the event any child of mine shall not survive me and my wife and is survived by descendants, then such descendants shall succeed to the interest of my child (or children) herein.

Exhibit USB-1, at 4. (App. p. 4). Jeff argues that this provision demonstrates an intention on Richard's part to leave "the remainder of the IRA to his children upon the death of his spouse, Joan." Brief of Appellant, at 24. To read this paragraph as reiterating the contingency set forth above, Jeff argues, would render the "paragraph 'superfluous', by definition." *Id.* at 26. Jeff stresses that "Richard Bittner could not leave himself the power to direct the distribution of the remainder interest 'upon the death of my wife' if he devised the entire IRA to his wife." *Id.*

Jeff's analysis overstates the plain language of Richard's Beneficiary Designation, which afforded Richard the opportunity to designate a *beneficiary*, not an *owner*. The Internal Revenue Service explains that "[i]f you inherit a traditional IRA, you are called a beneficiary." I.R.S. PUB 590-B (2019). It is only upon the inheriting spouse's election that they may treat themselves as the *owner* of the IRA. *Id.* Richard's IRA and Beneficiary Designation clearly contemplate this much and even allow for Richard to

designate successor beneficiaries, who would presumably take any remainder interest after the primary beneficiary's death. *See* Exhibit USB-1, at 2. (App. p. 90). Section (C) of the Beneficiary Designation form expressly sets forth successor beneficiaries, where Richard provided that upon Joan's death, her remaining interest in the IRA shall pass to the "then living descendants, per stirpes, of the deceased beneficiary." *Id.* (App. p. 90). These descendants would have been Richard's children. The IRA similarly provides that Richard "may name one or more beneficiaries to take the undistributed portion of this trust upon [his] death or the death of [his] surviving spouse" Exhibit USB-2, at 7. (App. p. 99).

Thus, notwithstanding the addendum's final paragraph upon which Jeff relies, Richard was at all times limited to designating Joan as a beneficiary of the IRA instead of as an owner. Likewise, Richard was permitted to, and did designate his four children as successor beneficiaries with equal remainder interests in the IRA according to Section (C) of the Beneficiary Designation form, even despite Joan being the sole primary beneficiary.

3. The final paragraph of Richard Bittner's Addendum is not superfluous because it clarifies that his children were contingent beneficiaries *per stirpes*

Richard did not designate his children as primary beneficiaries under Section (A) of his addendum. *See* Exhibit USB-1 at 3. (App. p. 91). He

designated Joan and the Joan Y. Bittner Marital Trust as primary beneficiaries. *Id.* Richard identified his children as "primary" beneficiaries only in the final paragraph of Section (B) to his addendum, which sets forth contingent beneficiaries. *Id.* at 4. (App. p. 92). "Upon the death of my wife, my children ... shall become the primary beneficiaries and each shall have an equal share." *Id.* (App. p. 92).

Of course, "primary" is not synonymous with "successor." Moreover, if Richard were referring to his children's remainder interest, he could have specified that they "shall become the *successor* beneficiaries." But it would have been entirely superfluous - an outcome Jeff condemns - for Richard to specify their successor interest, since they were already designated as successors under Section (C) of the original Beneficiary Designation form. *See id.* at 2. (App. p. 90). It follows that Richard's purpose for using the term "primary" was to clarify his Section (B) designation - that Richard's children were the primary beneficiaries, *contingent* upon Joan predeceasing Richard.

The paragraph concludes with, "[i]n the event any child of mine shall not survive me and my wife and is survived by descendants, then such descendants shall succeed to the interest of my child (or children) herein." *Id.* at 4. (App. p. 92). This unambiguously delineates Richard's purpose for including the final paragraph under his contingent beneficiary designation.

Richard wished to clarify that his children were contingent beneficiaries, *per stirpes*. Notably, Richard also designated his successor beneficiaries per stirpes, exhibiting consistency throughout the document, and indicating his intent to do the same with his contingent beneficiary designation. *Id.* at 2. (App. p. 90).

Section (B) of the Beneficiary Designation form further confirms this, as it contains a "Per Stirpes" box that Richard could have checked by each contingent beneficiary's name. See id. at 1. (App. p. 89). Next to the box is an that clarifies a contingent beneficiary's "surviving lineal descendants" would take their share if the contingent beneficiary predeceased the grantor. Id. (App. p. 89). Since Richard elected to attach his addendum setting forth his four contingent beneficiaries, however, he was unable to check this box. The final paragraph therefore ensures that in the event one of Richard's children predeceased him, their contingent interest would pass on to their own descendants, rather than to Richard's other children - effectively "checking" the per stirpes box. The leading sentence of the final paragraph is not superfluous, but simply a statement of fact that precedes Richard's per stirpes designation.

Richard was an attorney experienced in estate planning. See Jeff Bittner's Pretrial Brief dated January 12, 2021, at 12. As such, he certainly

would have understood that the contingent beneficiaries named in Section (B) would become primary beneficiaries "only if none of the Primary Beneficiaries are living at the date of [his] death." Exhibit USB-1, at 1 (emphasis in original). (App. p. 89). In context, it is clear that only upon Joan's death *before* her interest as primary beneficiary has vested, would Richard's contingent beneficiaries become "primary" beneficiaries. Since Joan was living at the time of Richard's death, this contingency did not occur. This, however, does not render any of the language of the Beneficiary Designation superfluous.

4. The IRA Beneficiary Designation vests Joan Bittner with the right to designate her own successor beneficiaries

Even though Richard may have only designated Joan to be the sole primary beneficiary of Richard's IRA, Joan also has at all times reserved the right to supersede Richard's successor beneficiary designations. The Beneficiary Designation, which grants this right, expressly states:

If my spouse survives me and is named a *beneficiary* on page 1, part A or B of this IRA Beneficiary Designation, my spouse may designate one or more beneficiaries to *succeed to my spouse's interest* upon my spouse's death, by completing an Inherited IRA Beneficiary Designation and delivering it to U.S. Bank.

Exhibit USB-1, at 2 (emphasis added). (App. p. 90). Jeff fails to respond to this language, and instead asserts that "[t]he fatal flaw to Mr. Morf's opinion [who recognized that Joan can change beneficiaries at any time as the primary

beneficiary] is that he assumes (without contractual support) that 'primary beneficiary' and '100% owner' are synonymous terms." Brief of Appellant, at 25. However, as previously established, Richard could not have designated Joan as an owner, but only as a beneficiary. Nonetheless, the above provision is precisely what supports Joan's ability to change the successor beneficiary designations. Significantly, the Beneficiary Designation makes clear that Joan did not need to be the 100% *owner* of the IRA; she need only have been a *beneficiary* of the IRA to choose the successors to her interest.

Reading the Beneficiary Designation as Jeff suggests - that Joan was somehow limited to a lifetime interest in the IRA with the remainder *certain* to pass to Richard's successor beneficiaries - would lead to an absurd result. How could Joan designate a beneficiary to succeed her lifetime interest upon her death, if her lifetime interest expires by virtue of her death? As Jeff himself has vigorously argued, the court should assume no part of a contract is superfluous or ineffectual. Brief of Appellant, at 27. Yet, his interpretation would do just this by rendering Section (C) of the Beneficiary Designation form hollow of any meaning or purpose.

Thus, "primary beneficiary" and "100% owner" need not be synonymous for Joan to exercise her own beneficiary designations over any remainder interest. Instead, while Richard had the power to designate his

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